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Delivered via email 

RE: CHANGES NEEDED IN CITY POLICIES REGARDING THE TRAFFIC FUNCTION OF COLLECTOR ROADS 

Greetings Terry: 

In this letter I set out changes in various City of Guelph policy documents that are needed to bring City policies 
into compliance with the Canadian Guide to Traffic Calming. 

TOPIC ONE: COMPLIANCE WITH THE CANADIAN GUIDE TO TRAFFIC CALMING 

As a preface to a presentation of the changes that are needed, I present a summary of the contradictions that 
have existed and still exist within policy documents as regards the appropriate traffic function to be assigned to 
collector roads in residential areas. 

The Southview (District 8) Secondary Plan was added to the City of Guelph Official Plan in 1975.   The roadway 
system contained in the Southview Secondary Plan made a distinction between the functions of arterial roads 
and highways as one grouping and local and collector roads as a second grouping.  The function of arterial roads 
and highways was to “facilitate the movement of through traffic while minimizing the environmental impact on 
residential neighbourhoods”. The function of local and collector roads was to provide convenient access to 
property to and from the arterial/highway network while “preventing through traffic in the neighbourhoods”. 

The intention in the District 8 Plan to exclude through traffic from collector roads was contradicted by the 
Transportation Section of the Official Plan.  The Transportation Sections of Guelph’s Official Plan in 1975, and 
continuing until at least 1994, explicitly assigned through traffic functions to collector roads as part of an 
arterial-collector grid system to assist in the dispersion of through traffic.  

While the mention of a combined “arterial-collector road grid” has been removed in more recent Official Plans 
the definition of the function of collector roads retains the allowance for through-traffic function for collector 
roads. 

1994 Official Plan 

 Collector roads are intended to move low to moderate volumes of traffic within specific areas of the    
 City and collect local traffic for distribution to the arterial or Provincial Highway system. 

2021 Official Plan 

5.7.3.1 Collector Roads are intended to move low to moderate volumes of traffic within specific areas of the 
 City and collect local traffic for distribution to the arterial or Provincial Highway system. 

The Official Plan definition of the traffic function of collector roads has been interpreted by staff as providing a 
justification for through traffic being permitted and/or encouraged on residential collector roads.  For example, 



in the Staff Report on the Niska Road Improvements (Dec 3 2015) it is noted that “with respect to the function of 
Niska Road as a two-lane collector road: 

• Current and future expected traffic volumes on Niska Road are well within the range for a two-lane 
collector road; 

• Origen destination survey indicates that Niska Road is important to the city and area as it is to local 
residents; 

• Most trips are for work from an external destination to locations in the City outside of the immediate 
neighbourhood.” 

This interpretation of the function of a collector road in a residential area, based on the definition of collector-
road function in the Official Plan, is directly opposite to the 1975 commitment of the City to protect residents 
from the detrimental effects of cut-through traffic using residential collector roads.  

Moreover the 1975 City of Guelph decision to recategorize collector roads as being, together with local roads, 
for locally-generated traffic only was confirmed as best practice by the Canadian Guide to Neighbourhood Traffic 
Calming issued by the Transportation Association of Canada in 1998.  This Guide, reissued in 2018 as the 
Canadian Guide to Traffic Calming has the following definition of the traffic function of local and collector roads 
in residential areas: 

“A primary function of local streets is to provide access to adjacent properties. These streets are not intended 
for use as through routes or as corridors to move traffic within the overall road network. For collector streets, 
access to adjacent property is balanced by a need to collect and distribute traffic travelling into and out of an 
area or neighbourhood. As with local streets, collector streets are generally not intended to be through routes 
or to move significant amounts of traffic from one part of the road network to another. 

The contrast between the City’s operational interpretation of collector road function and the CGTC is obvious. 
The City’s interpretation is the collector roads can and should move significant volumes of through traffic, the 
CGTC states collector roads should not move significant amounts of through traffic. 

RECOMMENDATION 1: REVISE THE DEFINITION OF COLLECTOR ROAD FUNCTION IN THE TRANSPORTATION 
MASTER PLAN AND THE OFFICIAL PLAN TO CORRESPOND WITH THE CGTG 

The TAC has two publications that discuss traffic functions of streets – the Geometric Design Guide for Canadian 
Roads and the Canadian Guide to Traffic Calming. Both publications agree that the two fundamental aspects of 
the traffic function of a street are (1) traffic service function and (2) land service//access.   

I recommend the following definitions as an example of providing clear guidance on both traffic service and land 
service: 

Suggested Definitions for Classification of Streets 

Arterial Road A road primarily for movement of through traffic; access to property of lesser importance. 

Collector Road  A road for movement of local traffic and for access to property; movement of local traffic and 
access to property have equal importance; through traffic discouraged. 

Expressway A divided arterial roadway for through traffic with full or partial control of access and with 
some interchanges. 

Freeway A road limited to through traffic with access only through interchanges. 

Local Road A road providing access to property for local traffic; through traffic discouraged. 



TOPIC TWO: REVISE THE TRAFFIC CALMING POLICY TO RESTORE COMPLIANCE WITH THE CGTC 

The Canadian Guide to Traffic Calming provides guidance on the two traffic safety concerns which give rise to 
the need for traffic calming. One is speeding, the other is high volumes associated with traffic short-cutting 
through residential neighbourhoods.   The City of Guelph’s Neighbourhood Traffic Management Policy as revised 
in 2006 took careful account of the CGTC and the NTMP established criteria for thresholds on both speeding and 
short-cutting traffic volumes which, if surpassed, triggered a Traffic Review.  The criterion for short-cutting 
traffic on collector roads was >600 short-cutting vehicles per day on streets with >2000 vehicles/d traffic. 

In July 2020 City Council replaced the NTMP with Traffic Calming Policy – Policy 016.  The replacement policy TCP 
is not compliant with the CGTC because the TCP deals with only half of the traffic calming concerns – speeding – 
and does not contain a single mention of short-cutting traffic volumes, much less establish a criterion for 
triggering a Traffic Review based on excessive short-cutting traffic volumes. The TCP does reaffirm that the 
traffic function assigned to collector roads is to circulate local traffic. 

RECOMMENDATION 2: RESTORE SHORT-CUTTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES AS A CONCERN WITHIN THE TCP; RE-
ESTABLISH A CRITERION FOR TRIGGERING A TRAFFIC REVIEW TO DEAL WITH EXCESSIVE SHORT-CUTTING 
VOLUMES; RE-ESTABLISH A PROCEDURE FOR DETERMINING ACCEPTABLE VOLUMES OF SHORT-CUTTING 
TRAFFIC VOLUMES ON A SITE-SPECIFIC BASIS AS IN THE NTMP. 

 

TOPIC THREE:  DETERMINE ACCEPTABLE TRAFFIC VOLUMES ON SCIENCE-BASED SITE-SPECIFIC CRITERIA  

The NTMP (2006) specified that if a traffic-volume problem from short-cutting traffic was identified it was the 
responsibility of City staff to determine from site-specific characteristics of the problem street what volume of 
traffic was acceptable and then to determine what methods of traffic calming were needed to reduce cut-
through traffic volume to acceptable levels and thus return the problem street to its intended function. 

However, when required to establish the acceptable volume of cut-through traffic for Niska Road and Whitelaw 
Road, both of which are two-lane residential collector roads with excessive cut-through traffic problems City 
staff did not establish the acceptable volume of cut-through traffic from an examination of the site-specific 
properties of the problem road such as pavement width, extent of sidewalks, sight-line distances and presence 
of steep slopes. 

Instead of site-specific determination of the volume capacity Niska Road and Whitelaw Road City staff chose, in 
both cases, a volume of 8000 vehicles/d as the acceptable traffic volume, taking this value from the listing of 
typical observed maximum traffic volumes for all types of collector roads (i.e., both two lane and four lane 
roads) shown in Table 2.6.5 of the Geometric Design Guide. 

As explained by Geoff Nixon P. Eng. Director of Technical programs of the Transportation Association of Canada 
this use of the observed maximum traffic listed in Table 2.6.5 is contrary to the intended use of Table 2.6.5. This 
Table, and the entire GDG, is intended only for the geometric design of roads and should not be used for traffic 
operations. The maximum traffic volumes in Table 2.6.5 may well include volumes which are unacceptably high. 
There is “no implied “acceptability” of the typical volumes shown, and these values do not represent the 
capacity either physical of desirable of any specific road. Determination of acceptable volumes should be 
determined by the engineering judgement of practitioners based on site-specific properties. 

Further confirmation of the need to determine acceptable volumes on a site-specific basis is shown in the City of 
Toronto Traffic Calming Policy. In this policy collector road acceptable volumes are listed as being in the range of 
2500 to 8000 depending on road characteristics. 



RECOMMENDATION 3: THE TRAFFIC CALMNG POLICY SHOULD BE AMENDED TO EXPLICITLY STATE THAT 
ACCEPTABLE TRAFFIC VOLUMES MUST BE ESTABLISHED BY THE ENGINEERING JUDGEMENT OF QUALIFIED 
PRACTITIONERS USING THE SITE-SPECIFIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PROBLEM STREET. 

 

I thank you for your attention to these recommendations and look forward to what I hope will be a favourable 
response to this letter. 

I request that this letter be considered as a submission to both the Official Plan Update now underway and to 
the Transportation Master Plan Update now underway. 

Best Regards 

 

 

H.R. Whiteley P. Eng. 
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